Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Sherman Jones et al v. Alvie L. Thorvaldson et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Jones instituted this action by filing a complaint asking for a declaratory judgment to determine to whom they should pay royalty for gravel obtained by them from property owned by Merrill Oldroyd and by him leased to the Thorvaldsons. The Thorvaldsons filed a counterclaim against the Jones and at the end of the trial on the counterclaim the Court found that the Jones had forfeited their rights in the leased property for an implied covenant.

The only parties in this case on appeal are the Jones and the Thorvaldsons. The action between the Thorvaldsons and the Oldroyds and Acord was disposed of prior to the trial of the case between the Jones and the Thorvaldsons. In that action the Court held that the Thorvaldsons held no interest in the Oldroyd property, this being a gravel pit mentioned in the lease hereinafter set forth. The Thorvaldsons have not appealed from that decision. Hereafter, reference to the parties will be as Jones and Thorvaldsons.

The question in this case is whether the Jones' alleged violations of the terms of a written lease, the applicable parts of which are set forth below, are such as to authorize the trial Court to find that the Jones had forfeited their rights in the property described in said lease.

We set forth the pertinent parts of the lease entered into between Thorvaldsons and Jones: TR. 8.

"This agreement, made and entered into this 11th day of December, A. D. 1957, by and between Alvie L. Thorvaldson and E. Noreen Thorvaldson, his wife, of Payson, Utah County, State of Utah, hereinafter called the Parties of the First Part, Lessors, and Sherman Jones and Merle Jones, his wife, and Bryant Jones and Laraine Jones, his wife, of Delta, Millard County, State of Utah, hereinafter called the Parties of the Second Part, Lesses.

WITNESSETH:

"That the Lessors, Parties of the first part, for and in consideration of the rents, covenants and agreements hereinafter contained on the part of the Lessees to be paid, kept and performed, have granted, demised, leased, assigned, and by these presents do grant, demise, lease, assign and let unto the Lessees, for the purpose of operating, mining, producing and marketing such quantities of sand, gravel, top soil and fill dirt as may be found in and on the certain tracts of land which the parties of the first part represent they are the owners in fee simple title, which property is more particularly described as follows:

(Description of land omitted)

"And that certain parcel of land which the parties of the first part have, by contract and agreement, acquired from Merrill L. Oldroyd and Lola Oldroyd, his wife, of Payson, Utah, which property is described as follows:

(Description of land omitted)

"It is agreed that the lease to the first mentioned property and the assignment of agreement and lease to the second described property shall continue in force and effect for a period of twenty years, from the first day of January, 1958, to the first day of January, 1978, with the exclusive right granted to the Lessees herein to renew the said lease for an additional twenty years in accordance with the provisions and stipulations in this agreement contained. It is agreed that the Lessees shall take possession, operate and sell gravel, sand, soil and dirt from the said premises on and after January 1, 1958.

"In consideration of the premises, the Lessees and Assignees herein covenant and agree to deliver or pay to the Lessors 25 cents for each cubic yard of sand, gravel or top soil mined, processed, or produced from the said premises and by the Lessees disposed of on the market, and they also agree to pay to the Lessors one cent for each cubic yard of fill dirt removed from the said premises Lease payments shall be

made to the Lessors at Payson, Utah, unless other address is provided to the Lessees. Payments shall be made between the first and tenth days of each three month calendar period.

"It is agreed that the books of the Lessees shall be accessible to the Lessors for the purpose of computing the output of such marketed sand, gravel and dirt at all times. Duplicate sales slips shall be preserved in numerical order and at regular three-month intervals shall be subject to inspection by the Lessors. The Lessors shall also have access to the pits and premises at all times for the purpose of comparison by way of quantity of sand and gravel removed therefrom.

". . . . The Lessees agree to keep all overburden removed which would in any way inhibit or retard the success of the business.

.

"If the Lessors own a less interest in the above described lands than herein represented, then the royalties and rentals herein provided for shall be paid the Lessors only in proportion which their interest bears to the whole and undivided fee.

"It is further stipulated and agreed between the parties hereto that the Lessees shall conduct the said business in such a manner as to adequately and timely fill all orders and supply all requests of customers. If the Lessees fail to operate the business in a proper, businesslike and workmanlike manner and/or fail because of business practices to keep up with the demand, the same will constitute grounds for forfeiture of this lease."

The Court found that the Jones' failure to perform any one of the following things constituted grounds to declare that Jones had forfeited their right in the leased property:

- (1) Failure to remove the overburden;
- (2) Failure to make sales slips for materials reasonably soon after the sale of the said materials and delivery of the material to the customer:
- (3) That the Jones removed sand and gravel off the premises without accounting for any of it;
- (4) They abandoned the business of selling sand and gravel on the leased premises and removed their activities off the leased premises;
- (5) Failure to account for all sales of sand and gravel.

The evidence respecting those issues is as follows:

FAILURE TO REMOVE OVERBURDEN

Mr. Isaah Rex Allen, called as a witness by the Thorvaldsons. He testified that further operation of the pit was prevented because the overburden was not removed. TR. 140. He further testified that in removing the overburden, it could easily affect 1,000 yards. This witness said it would take at least ten eight-hour days to remove the overburden. TR. 142-143. Mr. Allen stated that so far as he knows the Jones could be taking sand from the pit at the time of the trial. He said the sand would be too dirty for cement purposes. TR. 145.

Grant E. Lloyd, a son-in-law of the Thorvaldsons, and Thorvaldsons' witness for them, testified: "There would be at least three days work to get this big pit in good shape again." TR. 246.

Thorvaldson testified that in his judgment there would be about 1,000 yards of sand contaminated. TR. 185.

Jones testified that he has never had any concrete rejected because of dirt in it. TR. 272-273. Jones stated that he was not having any trouble with the overburden and can remove the overburden without hazard to a driver. TR. 24. Jones testified that this overburden was there when they leased the property from Thorvaldsons. TR. 181.

FAILURE TO MAKE SALES SLIPS

Leon Woodfield, a Certified Public Accountant called as a witness by Thorvaldsons, testified as follows: "In connection with the audit and comparing the recorded information that I found in reports given to me by Mr. Jones, I found some differences. For example, during the period of October, ending Oct., 1961, there was a difference of 37.80 tons or cubic yeards, excuse me." TR. 131. That was out of a total reported by Jones to him of 829.70 yards. "In April of 1963, there was a difference of 8.5 out of 536. There was also a difference in the sand and gravel of 5.0 out of a total of 145. And then in May of 1962, with respect to the sand, out of 170, there was a difference of .25 and for the gravel, 136, there was $2 - \frac{1}{4}$." TR. 132.

The witness also testified that in his experience in auditing items of this kind that it was not unusual to locate or find differences of this small amount. TR. 132. He further testified that there are normally small differences in the audit. TR. 132. In the last quarter there were larger differences between the report going to Mr. Thorvaldson and the reported sales that are not included on the report. TR. 132.

Jones testified: "We keep our invoices in numerical order and do not make them at the end of the quarter". TR. 170. He further stated: "As I explained before, if a person in the case of a contract orders so many linear feet of ditch, we go ahead and we keep track of the amount of material we put in that ditch until that project is done and then we will see if that is all he needs and get it approved and make sure that is all he will need, and then I will make up the invoice." TR. 171.

"Question: Sometimes you are so busy that you can't make them up for two or three days, is that not true?

"Answer: The only case that they may not be made up for two or three days is if I have not received a report from one of the other fellows or that I am out of town and I am not there to take care of it." TR. 171.

Mr. Thorvaldson was asked: "It is true, isn't it Mr. Thorvaldson, that in that whole year's time, the auditor found a difference between the records of the Jones and that which they had reported to you of only 43.8 yards?" TR. 227.

"Answer: I don't remember exactly. He wasn't able to determine entirely, according to what he said. He said he couldn't get an accurate account." TR. 227.

The witness, Thorvaldson, in testifying about what the audit disclosed, testified that the second audit found a shortage, but the first one wasn't too bad, and that after the first audit had been made, Jones sent him a check for \$112.42. This covered a six months period. TR. 189-191.

REMOVAL OF SAND AND GRAVEL WITHOUT ACCOUNTING FOR IT.

Jones, in testifying about the amount of sand stockpiled, stated: "There is no large amount stockpiled. There may be 100 yards now." TR. 163.

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE JONES ABANDONED THE LEASED PROPERTY AND FORFEITED THEIR RIGHT THEREIN BY FAILURE TO MAINTAIN A MIX BATCH PLANT ON THE LEASED PREMISES AND THAT UNLESS THE MIX BATCH PLANT WAS MAINTAINED ON THE PREMISES AND ALL PROCESSING DONE THEREON THE CONTRACT CONTAINED NO CONSIDERATION.

The lease above referred to was reformed to include land not described in the lease. TR. 68. The Court, in drawing the boundary line between the property leased to Jones and that retained by Thorvaldson, awarded Thorvaldson property upon which a well was located from which water was used to operate a mix batch plant (TR. 237) and also a portable mix batch plant. TR. 236. Later, Jones purchased five acres of land adjoining the Thorvaldson property upon which he built a mix batch plant and sunk a well at a cost of \$2,000.00. TR. 280. Thereafter, all processing was done on the Jones property. TR. 110. Jones went into possession of the leased property in January, 1958, and from that time until he was evicted from said premises by order of the Court, continued to dig and mine sand from the property owned by Thorvaldson and gravel

from the property Thorvaldson had leased from Oldroyd, and sold and delivered the same to customers. dent from the Court's comments during the trial that the Jones' failure to do all of their processing on the Thorvaldson property was the real reason why the Court declared a forfeiture. The Court asked the attorney for Thorvaldson to define the issues. Counsel replied, "They have moved off the property completely". TR. 109. The Court asked, "Have they moved the business from the premises?" Counsel for Jones answered, "So far as the batch plant is concerned they have." TR. 110. Counsel for Thorvaldson, reading from the deposition of Jones: "You didn't pay any royalty on that material you process and manufacture on your own property?" Answer: "Only that we removed from the leased property". Question to Jones by attorney for Thorvaldson: "Do you have any requirement to take any material from Mr. Thorvaldson's prop-Answer: "No, there is no determined amount." Then the Court said, "I am afraid you have got a forfeiture here, Mr. Hodgson". TR. 111.

The Court further said: "I am saying this in view of what we said in the other case and considering the testimony we had there and the arguments and all. And it was one of the requirements, an indispensable requirement of the validity of the lease that they maintain that business on those leased premises; to mine the sand and gravel and process it there so that there would be consideration, and it had to be done in a manner that would take care of the business and the customers for that kind of business. Now, if they have moved off the property and processed elsewhere and get materials from other sources as well, then there is

a forfeiture of this lease, a failure of consideration." TR. 111-112.

The Court said that the Jones were required to maintain the business on the premises and as authority for that proposition stated: "Well, there is the requirement that they maintain the business on the premises. (Quoting from the lease agreement) 'It is further stipulated and agreed between the parties hereto that the Lessees shall conduct the said business in such a manner as to adequately and timely fill all orders and supply all requests of customers.'" TR. 114.

Mr. Hodgson: "Now it doesn't say, Your Honor, that they conduct it upon the leased premises."

The Court: "No, those words are not in there, but they are implicit to give validity to the lease." TR. 115.

The Court: "As I remember the testimony in the other case there was a business on the premises being conducted, and this business was sold lock-stock and barrel to the Jones boys. They bought all the equipment and then he took a lease on the premises and agreed to pay so much royalty for materials that went through that business—sold from that business. And that was where Mr. Thorvaldson was going to derive his revenue. There would be no consideration if they could just take that lease and hold it for 20 or 40 years and process and operate across the street or at some other location. The lease would lack consideration." TR. 115.

Mr. Hodgson: "But I think we have to go look at the whole of the lease and the whole of the situation, your Honor." TR. 115.

The Court: "I think that's right. I think you are

right. We have to look at the whole thing." TR. 115.

Mr. Hodgson: "Part of this business was not just the processing of sand which was taken from the Thorvaldson sand pit, and gravel which was taken from the Oldroyd gravel pit and made into ready mixed concrete. Btu part of the business was, and is, and will be in the future, the taking of sand and top soil and fill dirt or overburden from the sand bed properties and selling them to customers who come there for no other purpose than to purchase them irrespective of whether there is a batch plant there or a batch plant a hundred yards down the road; and part of the conducting of that business, the business which is the overall business of sand, gravel, and concrete, is still being conducted and must still be conducted under the terms of this lease, irrespective of where these men have their batch plant. It can still be conducted out at that pit, irrespective of whether they have a batch plant on it or not." TR. 115-116.

The Court: "Part of it, but the processing is not done there anymore, is it?" TR. 116.

Mr. Hodgson: "No." TR. 116.

The Court: "Then you would probably admit there is a partial failure of consideration? Mr. Thorvaldson gets no revenue from any of the processing?" TR. 116.

Mr. Hodgson: "That isn't true, because the sand which they still use must come from the sand bed irrespective of where it's batched out. And until March 1st, the gravel which was used came from the Oldroyd pit which was under the lease, and which, through no cause of these plaintiffs, is now terminated." TR. 116.

The Court: "Well in my mind now that you have ad-

į

mitted that the batch plant has been removed and the processing no longer takes place there, to my mind, that constitutes a sufficient breach to work a forfeiture of the lease. Now, the Supreme Court might not say so, if you appeal to the Supreme Court. Therefore, you better produce all your evidence." TR. 118.

We again quote from the Court: "Yes it was. That he had to pay Mr. Thorvaldson for all materials processed on the premises; and it was within the contemplation of the parties that he would process on the premises or that word wouldn't have been in there." TR. 113.

Mr. Hodgson stated: "That is true, but nothing was said in that case nor in the decision in that case as to the requirement that they continue to bring all materials that they might purchase onto those premises and process them." TR. 114.

The Court replied: "Well, there is the requirement that they maintain the business on the premises: 'It is further stipulated and agreed between the parties hereto that the lessee shall conduct the business in such a manner as to adequately and timely fill all orders and supply all requests of customers.'" TR. 114.

The Court further said: "I think so far now there has been no sufficient evidence to justify a forfeiture on the ground of failure to take care of the business. But there, as I mentioned yesterday, the removal of the business from the premises makes an entirely situation." TR. 181.

The contract specifically provided the reason why a forfeiture could be declared by the Thorvaldsons, and the Thorvaldsons, after calling one witness in an attempt to show that the Jones had failed to conduct the business in such a manner as to adequately and timely fill all orders and supply all requests of customers, abandoned that theory and the Court made no finding with respect thereto.

In reaching its conclusion, the Court declared a forftiture for something which the contract did not require the Jones to do, to-wit: maintain a mix batch plant on the Thorvaldson property.

The evidence shows that from the early part of January, 1958, until they were evicted from the premises by the Court in 1962, the Jones were mining and selling sand from the Thorvaldson property and selling it to customers. TR. 115.

Just how the maintenance of the mix batch plant on the Thorvaldson property would promote the sale of sand and gravel to a greater extent than the place where it was maintained was not explained by the evidence. The maintenance of the batch plant on the Thorvaldson property would not promote the sale of sand or gravel in their raw state to customers who came to the premises for either of these products. The maintenance of the batch plant could not possibly affect the removal of the overburden or work of the auditor in auditing the Jones books or to change their method of keeping books. It would not deter or aid an engineer in making a topographical survey to see how much sand and gravel had been removed.

As a general rule, the Courts hold that tenancies cannot be terminated unless there is a forfeiture clause contained in the contract. See 51 CJS, 683, "Landlord and Tenant", Section 104. We quote: "Necessity for Foreclosure Clause. In general a tenancy cannot be terminated for breach of covenant by the lessee unless there is an express provision in the lease for forfeiture or right of re-entry in such case.

"In the absence of a statute to the contrary, tenancy cannot be terminated for a breach of covenant by the lessee unless there is an express and distinct provision in the lease for forfeiture or right of re-entry on the occurrence of the breach or unless the breach disaffirms or impugns the title of the lessor and tends to defeat the reversion."

We quote from 32 Am. Juris., Sec. 848, page 721:

"A stipulation giving the lessor the right to re-enter and declare a forfeiture for the breach of specified covenants of the lease impliedly excludes the right to reenter for the breach of other covenants." Citing Burnes v. McCubbin, 3 Kan. 221, 87 Am. Dec. 468.

From 51 CJS, Sec. 102, p. 677, we quote:

"Forfeitures by acts of the parties to a lease, because of a breach of a covenant or condition or wrongful act of the tenant, are not favored by the courts."

See 12 Am. Juris., page 1016, Sec. 436, under "Contracts'." We quote:

"Forfeitures are not favored by the law; indeed, they are regarded with disfavor. It is well settled that forfeitures by implication or by construction, not compelled by express requirements, are regarded with disfavor. Contracts involving a forfeiture cannot be extended beyond the literal meaning of the words used. Since forfeitures are not favored either in equity or

in law, provisions for forfeitures are to receive, where the intent is doubtful, a strict construction against those for whose benefit they are introduced. Courts are reluctant to declare and enforce a forfeiture if by reasonable interpretation it can be avoided. Forfeitures are enforced only where there is clearest evidence that that was what was meant by the stipulation of the parties."

Quoting from 51 CJS, Sec. 104, p. 684:

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