Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Sherman Jones et al v. Alvie L. Thorvaldson et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CONSIDERATION FOR THE AGREEMENT ENTITLED CONTRACT ASSIGNMENT AND LEASE AGREEMENT WAS ILLUSORY UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE.

As we have stated in the statement of facts, it was contemplated by all of the parties at the time of the previous litigation that Jones would pay Thorvaldson a royalty of so much per ton for materials "produced and/or

processed" on the property. The language was not a part of the agreement, however, counsel for the plaintiffs in the previous litigation had insisted that this was the intent of the parties and the court had interpreted the contract on the previous litigation to read "processed on" rather than "processed from" in order to satisfy the requirement of mutuality of obligation. It was the position of the Jones in that case that there could be no lack of consideration if the contract were interpreted to require them to pay for material brought on the property and processed thereon. Without that language in the contract, the court would have forfeited the lease on the previous occasion for failure of consideration (R. 112). Both Mr. Young in the previous case and in his brief therein (R. 112) and Mr. Hodgson in the present case and in his brief therein ((R. 112) stated respectively as follows:

- "Mr. Young: 'May we call attention to the fact that is not a contract which gives the lessees the right to hold the premises and to sell no sand, gravel and topsoil. We concede that such a lease would be invalid."
- "Mr. Hodgson: 'We agree that if the lease merely permitted the lessees to hold the premises and to sell no sand, gravel and topsoil, it would be invalid."
- "Mr. Young: "It is true, as a general rule, that if it is wholly optional with one party to a bilateral agreement, whether he shall perform or not, there is no legal contract. The promise of that party in such a bargain is illusory, that is though in form a promise, it is so qualified that the promissor really engages himself for nothing and his illusory promise is insufficient consideration to support a counter promise. A promise to buy such quantity of goods as the buyer

tities 'as may be desired', or as the buyer 'may want', is not sufficient consideration since the buyer may refrain from buying at his option and without incurring legal detriment himself or benefiting the other party.

• • • Even a promise to buy or sell only as much as the promissor chooses is a sufficient consideration for a counter promise when coupled with the agreement that whatever the buyer or seller choose to buy or sell, he will buy or sell to the promisee.

may thereafter order or to take goods in such quan-

To put the matter another way—the promise of a seller not to manufacture except for the buyer or the promise of a buyer not to buy except from a particular seller is clearly a promise to do something detrimental." (Emphasis added)

In Mr. Young's brief, the Jones were arguing that their duty and obligation was to buy exclusively from the Thorvaldsons in order to overcome the argument that Thorvaldson made at that time that the promise was illusory. The court concluded that that was the fact and construed the contract to mean "processed on" as well as produced. The appellant now contends that they do not have to purchase from Thorvaldsons except quantities "as may be desired or as they "may want". This is the very antithesis of their prior position and was well known by the court in addressing Mr. Hodgson concerning the matter as quoted above. (R. 112, 113)

Both attorneys for the defendants, Jones, admit that the lease would be invalid, and yet, the very facts that they state would cause it to be invalid are present in this case. Testimony of Mr. Jones himself has been quoted in the statement of facts and he has stated categorically and unequivocably that they do not have any requirement to

take any material from the Thorvaldson property. That they can take what they want, or not take any, and yet are able to hold the property for forty years (R. 111, R. 317).

The chief complaint of the appellants herein is that they claim the court required the appellants to maintain a batch plant on the property, otherwise there was a forfeiture (Appellant's Brief P. 13). This was not the finding of the court nor the position argued by the Respond-The court merely stated that they had to operate their business on the property whether that was the sale of sand and gravel or the operation of a batch plant or whatever it was, for it was the contemplation of the parties that the materials for the operation of the business of the Jones would be obtained from the property of Thorvaldson, otherwise Thorvaldson would get nothing for having leased his property to the Jones for forty years. There is no attempt to put specific language into the contract, but merely to interpret the contract according to its explicit intent.

The removal of the plant from the property of the Thorvaldsons was done deliberately to circumvent the judgment in the first case and to avoid the payment of royalties on materials manufactured from other sources, which constitute the great bulk of the business of the Joneses (R. 291). The Joneses are taking sand which also contains a sizeable quantity of gravel, by their own testimony (R. 291) and stockpiling it. When they are making concrete, and if they take material from the pile that they have stockpiled from the Thorvaldson pit, they pay Thorvaldson a royalty calculated on the basis of three-tenths of

the concrete sold, it being their theory that three-tenths is made up of sand, which is principally the material they get from Thorvaldson's pit, even though they admit that there is gravel in it. The balance, or seven-tenths, they assume is made up of gravel, the quantity of cement added being absorbed as shrinkage (R. 163). Under the methods used by the defendants, it is impossible to tell the quantities of sand and gravel utilized by the appellants that is owned by the Thorvaldsons. They merely estimate on the basis that sand of that approximate amount must be used with each cement batch; however, they cannot account for the amount of the gravel that is contained in the Thorvaldson material or the sand that is contained in the matrial received from other sources.

The appellant has cited numerous authorities with which we do not take serious exception except to say that they are not applicable to the particular issue before this court. For example, the appellant has cited 51 CJS 683 concerning the necessity for a foreclosure clause, but this provision only applies in respect to a situation where there is no provision in the lease or statute allowing termination of tenancy such as our unlawful detainer statute, Title 38, Chapter 36. In this case we have both contract and statutory provision. There is nothing mysterious about our rights for rescission in the event of illusory consideration or material breach. We call the court's attention to Williston on Contracts, Sec. 104, 104a and 105a and particularly to the language contained in those sections as follows:

"And in any case where a promise in terms or in effect provides that the promissor has a right to choose one or two alternatives, and by choosing one will escape without suffering a detriment or giving the other party a benefit, the promise is insufficient consideration."

See also, American Law Institute Restatement of the Law of Contrcts, Section 274 concerning failure of consideration as a discharge of duty; Section 275 of the same citation which concerns rules for determining materiality of a failure to perform; and Section 277, failure of consideration as a discharge of an existing right or of action. The American Law Institute Restatement of the Law of Contracts, Section 79 states as follows:

"A promise or apparent promise which reserves by its terms to the promissor the privilege of alternative courses of conduct is insufficient consideration if any of these courses of conduct would be insufficient consideration if it alone were bargained for." In its illustrations under Section 79, the restatement sets forth an example. 3. A offers to deliver B, at two dollars a bushel, as many bushels of wheat not exceeding 5,000 as B may choose to order within the next 30 days. B accepts, agreeing to buy at that price as much as he shall order of A within the specified time. B's acceptance involves no promise by him and is not sufficient consideration."

Compare that example with the situation here. Joneses have agreed to purchase from Thorvaldson sand, gravel and topsoil at the rate of 25c per yard and fill material at the rate of 1c per yard, in such amounts as they may choose to order, but they may not choose to order any. Under such circumstances, the Restatement says the consideration is illusory and unenforceable.

The Appellant in their argument spend numerous pages attempting to distinguish between covenants and conditions; however, we respectfully suggest that the distinction is not meritorious in this case for there are ample authorities that state under circumstances of this sort, the contract must fail. The concluding sentence that summarizes the position of the Appellant is that contained on page 19 of their brief wherein they state "This is not a contract where it was wholly optional with the Joneses whether they should perform or not." Then they quote Williston on Sales, Volume II, Section 464. We are in harmony with that rule therein stated. We would like the Appellant to tell use wherein the contract performance was not wholly optional with Jones. What was there in the contract that Thorvaldson could compel Jones to do? The answer to this question will tell the Court whether the consideration was real or imaginary. We believe that the only answer to the question is that the consideration was imaginary, unless the Joneses were willing to have the contract construed as requiring them to take all of their material from the property leased from Thorvaldson. Since they say that that was not their intent and since the contract itself is silent as to this subject and since their attorney, Mr. Elliason, drew that contract, we believe that it should be most strongly construed against the Jones' and the interpretation given to it necessarily means that there was no consideration.

In the case of Washington Chocolate Co. vs. Canterbury Candy Makers, Inc., 138 Pac. 2d, 195, there was a contract drawn between the parties wherein the Canterbury Candy Makers agreed to purchase from the Washing-

ton Chocolate Co. "all chocolate used by it at current price for chocolate at Seattle, Washington, and the same shall be paid for by the candy company in the ordinary course of business." The issue in that case was whether or not there was a lack of mutuality because of the indefiniteness of the contract. The court held that the consideration was illusory and unenforceable and declared the contract null and void.

It is a common rule of law in mineral development cases to require, by implication, that the Lessee utilize and develop the property to its fullest extent; otherwise, the consideration for the contract fails. Cases in support of this proposition are found in 76 ALR 2d commencing with page 710.

In the case of Darr v. Eldridge, 66 New Mexico 260, 346 Pac. 2d 1071, an action was brought to cancel a lease between the Lessors and the Assignee of the Lessee. appears that the premises were leased for the development of a mineral water on the basis of a royalty of \$100 per month for the first six months and thereafter a royalty on the basis of 5c per gallon for the first 4,000 gallons taken from the well each month. A dispute arose as to the amount of royalties to be paid for the mineral water used by the Lessees for the sale of vapor baths. After the litigation which was in favor of the Lessor, the Lessee abandoned the well and used city water supplemented with dry minerals. This practice was continued by the Assignee. The court held that under such circumstances the Lessee and his Assignee were bound by an implied covenant to use reasonable diligence in marketing the mineral water, and that for breach thereof, cancellation of the lease was the appropriate remedy. The court stated that there were two propositions, to-wit: "Lessors urge that the Lessee of the mineral well and his Assignee were bound by an implied covenant to use reasonable diliegnce in marketing the mineral wate. We agree." 2. "Assuming for the moment that the implied covenant was breached, the question arises whether cancelation will be decreed for such breach. The general rule in the cae of ordinary leases is that it will not unless the lease contains an express proviso to that effect. Shultz vs. Ramey, 64 New Mexco 366, 328 Pac. 2d 937. However, the decisions holding that cancelation will be decreed for breach of an implied covenant in oil and gas leases preponderate. Three Summers Oil and Gas, 453-468 Perm. Ed. Merrill, Covenants Implied in Oil and Gas Leases, page 362, (Second edition 1940). And this is the rule that has been establshed in this jurisdiction. Libby vs. DeBuca, supra, has heretofore pointed out the lease in question should be governed by the principles applicable to oil and gas leases including the doctrine that such a lease will be canceled for failure to exercise reasonable diligence in marketing the product. And such cancelation will be decreed against the assignee of the lease."

In the case of Crystal George, et al vs. Ardith Jones, et al, 168 Nebraska 149, 95 Northwest 2d 609, 76 ALR 2d 10, an action was brought against the surviving widow and administratrix and the heirs at law of the deceased Lessee, and the person to whom the administratrix had granted certain rights to remove gravel under the lease in question for forfeiture and cancelation of a mineral lease and to quiet title to all mineral rights in certain lands of

the plaintiffs. Under the lease granted to the Lessee for a five-year term, the Lessee agreed to pay as rental a stated sum for each cubic yard of gravel removed. The lease also provided that its terms were binding on the parties, their executors, administrators, heirs and assigns. plaintiff alleged that since the death of the Lessee the defendants had taken over and had assumed the lease but had failed to use any diligence in mining or extracting gravel and had failed to make reasonable effort to extract gravel, and although repeatedly warned, they had failed and refused to continue the efforts to mine and remove gravel from the premises. The defendants alleged affirmatively that they had diligently sought to operate the lease since the Lessee's death and that they had difficulty in keeping the machinery in repair, which fact was known to the plaintiffs and that she had agreed that any delay because of such difficulty would not place defendants in default. There was a sharp conflict in the evidence on the material issues. The court found that the lease had been forfeited that the plaintiffs were entitled to cancel-The Supreme Court of Nebraska concluded that forfeiture of the lease was proper for the Lessee breached the implied covenant which exists in mining leases and which the only consideration is the agreement by which the Lessee will pay a royalty on the product mined, that he will develop and operate the pit with reasonable diligence. The court, in its decision, stated as follows:

"We are cognizant that courts of equity abhor forfeitures, that they are odious in law and not favored by the courts and will not be enforced unless the facts which purport to require such drastic action come clearly and plainly within the provisions of the law or the lease as the case may be. See Donnelly vs. Soverign Camp WOW 111 Nebraska 499, 197 Northwest 145.

We deem the following authorities applicable to the factual situation in the instant case."

The court then cited the cases of Phillips vs. Hamilton, 17 Wyoming 41, 95 Pac. 846, wherein it was held if the consideration of a lease is a royalty to be paid to the Lessor on the product of the mine, there is an implied covenant that the work of the prospecting and development shall be prosecuted with reasonable diligence. In Cotner vs. Mundy, 92 Oklahoma 268, 219 Pac. 321, it was held that where the only consideration for the lease of sand and gravel pit for a long period of years was a royalty on the sand and gravel removed and the lease contained no express provision for continuous operation or for forfeiture for failure to develop and operate the pit, there was an implied covenant on the part of the Lessee to develop and operate the pit with reasonable diligence. See also Freeport Sulphur Co. vs. American Sulphur Royalty Co., 117 Texas 439, 6 Southwest 2d 1039, 60 ALR 890; Mansfield Gas Company vs. Alexander, 97 Arkansas 167, 133 Southwest 873.

Cases showing the requirement for diligent operation of percentage leases, even though not mineral, can be found in 170 ALR at 1107. These cases, although not cases involving sand, gravel, oil and other minerals, which cases seem to fall in a category by themselves, also say in the citations mentioned that failure to operate the business leased so as to give maximum profit to the Lessor

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